
 
COUNCIL ON DEVELOPMENT FINANCE 

 
January 25, 2010 

PUBLIC HEARING 357 
 

THOSE PRESENT: 
 
Mr. Andy Lubin, Chairperson    Mr. Alan Levin 
Steve Biener, Esquire     Mr. Gary Smith  
Honorable Nancy Cook    Mr. Stephen Bach 
Mr. Tom Gilligan     Ms. Rachael Onorato 
Mr. James L. Hutchison    Mrs. Lee Porter 
Honorable Greg Lavelle    Mr. Jeff Stone 
Mr. Fred Sears      Ms. Patti Cannon 
Mrs. Richelle Vible     Ann Marie Johnson, Esquire 
       Ms. Jennifer Carlson, OMB 

 
  

ALSO PRESENT:  Representing:  Elcriton, Inc. – Eleftherios “Terry” Papoutsakis, 
Ph.D. and Mr. Bryan Tracy; Five Below - Mr. Ken Bull                              
 
LOCATION:   Buena Vista, 661 South DuPont Highway, New Castle, Delaware  19720 
 
TIME:  9:00 A.M. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
The meeting was called to order at 9:05 A.M. by Mr. Lubin, Chairperson, on Tuesday, 
January 25, 2010. 
 
OLD BUSINESS: 
 
Representative Lavelle made a motion that the minutes of the December 15, 2009 
Council on Development Finance meeting be approved as presented.  Mr. Sears seconded 
the motion which was then adopted by unanimous vote. 
 
NEW BUSINESS: 
 
Elcriton, Inc. (“Elcriton” or the “Applicant”) - The Applicant is requesting a matching 
grant in the amount of $50,000 from the Delaware Strategic Fund under the Delaware 
Technical Innovation Program.  The Applicant proposes to use the proceeds to serve as a 
bridge grant for its transition from a SBIR Phase I to a SBIR Phase II of its National 
Science Foundation (“Foundation”) grant, “Metabolic Engineering for Clostridial 
Biotechnology” (the “Project”).  The business is located at 15 Innovation Way in 
Newark, Delaware. 



CDF Minutes 
Page 2 
January 25, 2010 
 
 
 
Ms. Cannon presented this request to the Council.  She briefly explained the SBIR and 
STTR process.  She stated that typically a company comes up with an idea, applies for  
funding usually through the Department of Energy or the Department of Defense and if it 
is eligible for a Phase I then it becomes eligible for a Phase II. 
 
Ms. Cannon stated that the University of Delaware and the BioTech Institute recruited the 
owner of Elcriton, Elelftherios “Terry” Papoutsakis, PhD. from Northwestern University 
in Chicago.  He is in the position of Endowed Chair – Eugene DuPont Chair of Chemical 
Engineering, University of Delaware.  He was previously a Chair Professor at 
Northwestern.  He stated he likes Delaware better than Chicago. 
 
Dr. Papoutsakis stated that he was recruited to come here for entrepreneurial activities.  
He stated the company was started over a year ago.  It was a dream of his.  He stated that 
last fall he wrote two SBIR grants.  He stated the company’s aim is to develop platform 
clostridia strains and to improve metabolic engineering technologies for all clostridia.  He 
stated this is a very large market. 
 
Dr. Papoutsakis stated that with Intellectual property you have to have a family of 
partners to get strength to patent the inventions.  He stated they are looking for big 
partnerships. 
 
Dr. Papoutsakis introduced Bryan Tracy.  Mr. Tracy received his bachelor’s degree from 
North Carolina.  Mr. Tracy stated that there are no suitable technologies in the US for this 
process.  He stated that there are a lot of biorefinery and biofuel technologies being 
developed but it has been more urgent in the last couple of years.  He stated that 
bioethanol is a better alternative to gasoline.  He stated it can be distributed through 
existing systems.  Mr. Tracy believes this will be developed over the next 10-15 years but 
he would like to see Elcriton develop it in the next three years. 
 
It was asked if there were any competitors.  Dr. Papoutsakis stated that there is a 
competitor in UK and another one in Chicago.  He stated that neither have been 
successful as of yet.  He stated Elcriton is ready to entertain strategic partners in the next 
few years. 
 
Dr. Papoutsakis stated that one of their partners is Moskiba in New Hampshire and 
Hubble in the San Francisco area.  He stated they are also targeting the DuPont 
Company. 
 
Dr. Papoutsakis stated that so far they have done two SBIR Phase I projects.  In August 
or September, they hope to be able to use these funds to allow them to convert the 
process into a patent – it would pay the fees and they would also like to use some of the 
funds to travel to find partners. 
 



CDF Minutes 
Page 3 
January 25, 2010 
 
 
Mr. Biener asked Dr. Papoutsakis if there were any restrictions on the use of the 
intellectual property which was developed at Northwestern.  Mr. Tracy stated that 
Elcriton has a signed user agreement with Northwestern. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if Elcriton was currently looking for partners.  Dr. Papoutsakis stated 
that in terms of their short term and long term goals, Elcriton will stay in Delaware.  Mr. 
Lubin stated that the growth of employment is important and Delaware wants to see it 
grown here.  Dr. Papoutsakis stated that Elcriton will hire Delaware employees.  He also 
stated that pilot plants can be built here.  Dr. Papoutsakis stated he plans on staying here.   
 
Mr. Sears asked who sets the goal for Phase I?  Dr. Papoutsakis stated that the Company 
proposes them, and if the Foundation approves them, they will fund the grant request.   
He stated the Phase II is a two year process. 
 
Mr. Sears asked what Clostridia was.  Mr. Tracy stated it was an organism that you grow 
- it is a bacteria.  He stated that the actual process is similar to making beer.  He stated 
that butanol is a better energy alternative than ethanol. 
 
Mr. Levin asked Dr. Papoutsakis whether there was a time limitation on the funding for 
his Endowed Chair.  Dr. Papoutsakis replied that his funding was open ended and 
continuous, and without ending date.  He stated that as long as he follows the rules, they 
have made a commitment to him.  He stated they currently have four employees and 
intend to ramp up at least two more.  If they get another Phase Two, it could be four or 
five more employees.  He stated they are all professionals and some are business people.  
They employ a law firm and a CPA part time. Dr. Papoutsakis stated they will need to 
hire a professional CEO. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if they would continue to keep the DE Biotechnology facility.  Dr. 
Papoutsakis stated they would.  He stated the DE Biotechnology Institute was a great 
investment by Delaware. 
 
Mr. Lubin asked if there were any public comments; there were none. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, that the Applicant is a “small 
business” within the meaning of 29 Del. C. §5035 (b)(3), that the Applicant has won a 
Phase I award in the Federal SBIR Program, that the Applicant has submitted a proposal 
for a Phase II SBIR award but has not yet received such award, that the Applicant’s 
principal place of business will be located in the State of Delaware; and that the research 
to be conducted will benefit the Delaware economy, and other requirements under 
applicable statutory and regulatory provisions, Mr. Sears made a motion that the Council 
recommend to Mr. Alan Levin, Chairperson of The Delaware Economic Development 
Authority, approval of a grant in an amount not to exceed Fifty Thousand Dollars 
($50,000) to be disbursed from the Delaware Technical Innovation Program (“DTIP”), to 
be used for the Project, contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through and 



CDF Minutes 
Page 4 
January 25, 2010 
 
 
including January 24, 2011.  Representative Lavelle seconded the motion, which was 
then adopted by unanimous vote.  
 
Five Below, Inc. (“Five Below” or the “Applicant”) - The Applicant is requesting a 
grant in the amount of $125,000 from the Delaware Strategic Fund program.  The 
Applicant proposes to use the proceeds to expand its distribution operations to 
accommodate planned future growth and its changing business needs.  Five Below is 
located at 350 Anchor Mill Road, Twin Spans Business Park in New Castle, Delaware 
(the “Project”).  The Applicant is an extreme-value retailer which primarily serves the 
teen market. 
 
Mr. Stone presented this request to the Council.  He stated Five Below is an extreme 
value retailer.  There are over 102 stores on the East Coast.  There is one in Newark and 
one in Wilmington. 
 
Mr. Bull stated that the only distribution center is here in New Castle County.  He stated 
that they are expanding rapidly in retail and need to expand the distribution center.  Mr. 
Bull stated they are going to double their space and will be taking over the additional 
space in the existing building, the other tenant there will be moving to a different 
location. 
 
Mr. Stone stated that in the CDF write up, the recommendation was for two different 
items.  However, he clarified that the request before the Council today was specifically 
for the $125,000 Delaware Strategic Fund grant.  Another financial request from Five 
Below will most likely be presented at the February CDF meeting. 
 
Mr. Bull stated the business was started in 2002 with two stores.  There are now 102 
stores located in nine states.  Five Below is expecting to double its size in the next year.  
They are expanding in different states.  He stated that with retail and with growth, 
distribution is one of the key assets to make sure they have it nailed down in terms of 
getting the products to the store.  Mr. Bull stated he met with Mr. Stone and with real 
estate brokers and they decided to move from New Jersey to New Castle.  He stated they 
looked in four states – New Jersey, Maryland, Pennsylvania and Delaware and decided to 
come and stay in Delaware.  He stated Mr. Stone’s involvement was an integral part of 
the deal and one of the most important things is the employees they have at their 
distribution center.  He stated that fact actually outweighed other financial incentives 
from other states.   Mr. Bull stated they will be doubling the facility to 400,000 square 
feet.  It will be Five Below’s regional distribution center. 
 
Representative Lavelle asked Mr. Bull if the company was profitable – were they hitting 
their targets.  Mr. Bull stated they were actually exceeding their targets.  The new 
statements will be showing a healthy income.  Representative Lavelle asked in light of 
the overall retail environment, how did Mr. Bull account for that.  Mr. Bull stated it has 
been a very difficult retail environment for the last two years but their sales have been up.  



CDF Minutes 
Page 5 
January 25, 2010 
 
 
They have achieved increases in sales in existing stores over the last several quarters.  He 
stated it has ranged from 4% to 12% with their healthiest being this year.  He stated that 
one reason was the awareness by consumers that there is something in the store for 
everyone.  He stated that most people that come in leave with a bag of purchased items.  
He believes that with the economy and the consumer looking for value, it has really 
helped Five Below.  Mr. Bull stated the salary ranges are $10-$15 per hour for the regular 
employees.  The manager’s salary is $80,000. 
 
Mr. Sears asked if there are any competitors.  Mr. Bull stated that their competitors are 
broad but there is no one out there doing what they are doing under one roof.  He stated 
the teens and preteens are the major market.  But, they need a ride and Five Below has a 
lot for the moms and dads. 
 
Mr. Biener asked if the jobs had benefits.  Mr. Bull stated that the full time jobs do have 
benefits.  He stated they currently have 17 employees which he feels will increase to 33.  
He stated that in terms of demographics, it continues to grow from a buying standpoint. 
 
Mr. Gilligan asked where the products come from.  Mr. Bull stated it is a mix; some from 
overseas, but they only import a small amount.  He stated they purchase through domestic 
manufacturers and distributors. 
 
Mr. Sears commented that Delaware would like for the corporate office to move to 
Delaware. 
 
Mr. Levin stated that Five Below is a very exciting retail concept.  He stated the company 
has found a niche.  Everything is $5.00 and below and this has separated them from the 
Dollar Store and from Wal-Mart.  He feels they will be very successful. 
 
After duly considering, inter alia, the nature of the business, its competitive situation in 
Delaware, its location, the employment and other requirements under applicable statutory 
and regulatory provisions, the Council made the following findings: (I)  the Project will 
contribute to maintaining or providing gainful employment of the citizens of the State, 
(ii) the Project will serve a public purpose by contributing to the prosperity, health or 
general welfare of the State; (iii) the Project will require a capital investment of at least 
$10,000, which funds, including the loan proceeds, will be available or expended on the 
date on which The Delaware Economic Development Authority disburses the requested 
loan funds; (iv) the loan will effectuate the purposes of Chapter 50, Subchapter IV of 
Title 29 of the Delaware Code, and (v)  the Applicant is a financially responsible person 
to the extent required by statue and has not been convicted of a major labor law violation 
or other illegal conduct involving moral turpitude by any agency or court of the federal 
government or agency or court of any state in the two-year period immediately prior to 
the approval of the Applicant’s application for assistance.  Mr. Hutchison made a motion 
that the Council recommend to Mr. Alan B. Levin, Chairperson, The Delaware Economic 
Development Authority, and approval of a loan in an amount not to exceed One Hundred 



CDF Minutes 
Page 6 
January 25, 2010 
 
 
Twenty-Five Thousand Dollars ($125,000) to be disbursed from the Delaware Strategic 
Fund, for the Project, contingent upon the approval remaining in effect through and 
including January 24, 2011.  Mr. Gilligan seconded the motion, which was then adopted 
by unanimous vote. 
 
New Program – Mr. Levin stated that the Governor recently announced a new program 
which will be called Job Incentive Fund.  The purpose of the proposed fund will be to 
provide grants to firms that expand and diversify Delaware’s economy.  It will be funded 
out the of the Abandoned Property revenues.  DEDO intends to submit a bill by the week 
of February l.  This fund will be distinguishable from the blue collar funds that are in a 
program which Senator Marshall started in 1982.  He stated this program will allow us to 
react to changes in market conditions and needs in a better fashion.  He also stated the 
Council on Development Finance will be the screening agency for these grants. 
 
Mr. Smith described the program in detail.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting adjourned at 10:15 a.m. 
 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 
Lee Porter, Secretary 
 
LKP 
 
cc:  Members of the Council on Development Finance 
      Director Alan Levin 
      Annmarie Johnson, Esquire 
       
 
The next CDF meeting is scheduled for Tuesday, February 22, 2010, at 9:00 A.M. at 
Buena Vista in New Castle, Delaware. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


